## NO. 44761-4-II

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON, Appellant

v.

DARIN RICHARD VANCE, Respondent

# FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.11-1-00704-9

#### BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Attorneys for Appellant

ANTHONY F. GOLIK Prosecuting Attorney Clark County, Washington

RACHAEL R. PROBSTFELD, WSBA #37878 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney 1013 Franklin Street PO Box 5000 Vancouver WA 98666-5000 Telephone (360) 397-2261

A.	ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR1				
B.	ISSUES PRESENTED				
C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE				
D.	ARG	GUME	ENT12

CrR 4.7(a)(1)	
CrR 4.7(c)(1)	
CrR 4.7(e)(1)	
CrR 4.7(h)(7)	
CrR 8.3(b)	

# Treatises

1 W. LAFAVE, SEARCH AND	SEIZURE § 1.6 at 119	(2d ed. 1987)	
-------------------------	----------------------	---------------	--

#### A. <u>ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR<sup>1</sup></u>

- 1. The trial court erred in entering finding of fact, page 2, paragraph 3, lines 7-10, that "the defense did not receive a response from either agent or from DPA Probstfeld."
- The trial court erred in entering finding of fact, page 3, paragraph 2, lines 4-6, that "On October 1, 2012, Office of Chief Counsel sent a follow-up letter acknowledging receipt of the Notice of Deposition, the Order of Deposition and the subpoena *duces tecum*, but still refusing to comply."
- 3. The trial court erred in entering finding of fact, page 5, paragraph 1, lines 1-4, that "On January 18, 2013, the Court held a status conference and found that the scope and relevancy letter sent to the United States Attorney's office on behalf of Mr. Vance by the defense was sufficient to comply with the applicable regulations."
- 4. The trial court erred in entering finding of fact, page 5-6, paragraph 5, lines 23-26, 1-3 on page 6, that "The Court further finds that the agents, even after the defense filed the requisite scope and relevancy letter, continually failed to make themselves available for depositions and to provide documents pursuant to attendant subpoenas *duces tecum*, as ordered by the Court. The Court further finds that even when the agents' compliance was sought by the State, by and through DPA St. Clair, the agents failed to comply with the Court's directives."
- 5. The trial court erred in finding on page 6, paragraph 1, line 7 that "..the State has been unable to fulfill [the discovery] requirement."
- 6. The trial court erred in finding the State had a discovery obligation pursuant to CrR 4.7 to provide defense with interviews of Special Agent Burney and Special Agent Peay, page 6, paragraph 1, lines 4-14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The trial court in this matter did not enter traditional findings of fact and conclusions of law. The findings are not numbered. For purposes of assigning error, the State assigns error to specific findings, referencing them by paragraph, page and line number of the Order Granting Defendant's Motion to Strike. CP 663-68.

- 7. The trial court erred in finding the State violated its discovery obligation pursuant to CrR 4.7 for failing to produce Agent Burney and Agent Peay at pretrial witness interviews.
- 8. The trial court erred in finding a violation under CrR 4.7(c)(1).
- 9. The trial court erred in finding the defendant was prejudiced.
- 10. The trial court erred in crafting a remedy for the alleged CrR 4.7 violation by striking the information provided by and/or derived from Agent Burney and Agent Peay from the affidavit filed in support of the search warrant involved in this case.
- 11. The trial court erred in finding Vance was prejudiced by his inability to interview Agent Burney and conduct a second interview of Agent Peay.
- 12. The trial court erred in finding that Agent Burney and Agent Peay refused to be interviewed.
- 13. The trial court erred in dismissing the case with prejudice.

#### B. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED</u>

- 1. Whether the State has a discovery obligation pursuant to CrR 4.7 to provide pretrial interviews of a witness it does not intend to call at trial, but who provided information that was used in obtaining a search warrant for evidence.
- 2. Whether the State violates CrR 4.7 when it is unable to produce a witness for a pretrial interview because defense counsel has not provided a scope and relevancy letter to the witness' satisfaction.
- 3. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in finding that the appropriate remedy for the State's inability to force federal agents that it did not intend to call at trial to submit to pretrial interviews was excision of all information provided by said federal agents to the affiant for a search warrant application.

4. Whether the defendant was prejudiced by his inability to interview Agent Burney because the Silver Platter doctrine would render defense's arguments regarding Burney's failure to follow Washington law meritless.

#### C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

On April 26, 2011 Darin Vance (hereafter 'Vance') was arrested in Clark County Washington on allegations of Possession of Depictions of Minors engaged in sexually explicit conduct and Distribution of Depictions of Minors Engaged in Sexually Explicit Conduct contrary to RCW 9.68A.060, 070. CP 762-63. Vance was arrested by a Vancouver Police Department Detective however the investigation began with the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI). Id; CP 119. During the FBI's investigation, agents located known images of "child pornography" being received and uploaded from an IP address that was determined to belong to Vance and his wife at their home located in Washougal, Clark County, Washington. CP 120-21. The FBI agent working the case sent the information to the Vancouver Police Department. CP 118-19. From there, VPD continued the investigation which culminated in securing a search warrant for Vance's home. CP 123. Upon serving the search warrant, police found numerous computers and computer-related items. CP 763. Vance was in the home and agreed to speak with police and waived Miranda, Id. Vance admitted that he has searched for and viewed known

images of children being sexually abused. *Id.* Vance admitted that those images would be found on the computers located in his home. *Id.* Vance further admitted he prefers to look at images of female children between the age of 3 and 13. CP 764. Police investigators performed a forensic analysis of Vance's computers and found 400 images and movies of child pornography on the computers. CP 763. Police also found evidence Vance had uploaded 25 images for distribution. *Id.* In a supplemental probable cause statement, it is described that some of the sample images depict the following:

"(1) nude prepubescent female who appears to be under age 10 lying on her back on a table. Her knees are bent and she is bound to the table by a collar or rope around her neck. She is tied in a 'hog-tied' fashion with rope around her thighs, ankles and wrists. Child's legs are pulled tightly back exposing her vagina and anus.

(2) Appears to be female child lying on her side with eyes closed. Adult male is putting his penis against her lips.

Appears to be prepubescent nude female under 12. Child has adult male's erect penis in her mouth."

CP 764.

The State charged Vance with 3 counts of Dealing in depictions of

a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct in the first degree in

violation of RCW 9.68A.050(1) and 7 counts of Possession of depictions

of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct in the first degree in violation of RCW 9.68A.070(1). CP 1-3.

While the case was pending trial, the defendant expressed a desire to interview federal agents involved in the investigation of the case in August 2011. CP 504. The agents the defendant wished to speak with were not on the State's witness list for trial and the State indicated it would not set up the interviews. CP 60, 504. The defendant sent letters to Agents Burney and Peay asking for interviews with those witnesses. CP 62-63.

Special Agent Julie Peay is employed by the Department of Homeland Security, Immigration and Customs Enforcement. CP 58. Special Agent Alfred Burney is employed by the Federal Bureau of Investigation. CP 58.

As early as September 2011, the defendant was made aware of how it would need to go about setting up interviews with federal agents. CP 542. The record makes it clear that between September 2011 and June 2012, the defendant made no efforts to provide the federal agents or the Assistant U.S. Attorney involved with a scope and relevancy letter. CP 664.

On August 16, 2012, upon the defendant's motion, the trial court signed an order authorizing depositions of Agents Peay and Burney.

CP 106. The defendant then sent notice of depositions to the federal agents. CP 108, 111.

On September 24, 2012, the U.S. Department of Justice sent the defendant a letter indicating that in order to obtain testimony or information from Agent Burney it would need to submit a letter setting forth the scope and relevancy of Burney's testimony or other information sought. CP 529-30. This letter indicates that the U.S. government would not allow Burney to submit to a deposition until they received the information on scope and relevancy that was required under federal law. *Id.* The defendant received a similar letter from U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement regarding Agent Peay. CP 532. U.S. ICE requested a written summary of the documents and testimony they wished to obtain from Agent Peay. CP 533. Both letters informed the defendant of actions he could take to obtain their requested interviews or depositions. CP 529-33.

On October 1, 2012, the defendant filed a motion to suppress and dismiss the case arguing the search warrant was overbroad and that it violated Article I, section 7 of the Washington State constitution. CP 126, 138. The defendant then filed a motion to dismiss or in the alternative to strike statements from the search warrant affidavit on October 31, 2012. CP 499-500. This motion was based on the defendant's inability to

interview Agents Burney and Peay. CP 501.

On November 19, 2012, the court issued a second order for

depositions of Agents Peay and Burney. CP 538-39. It appears this

document was again submitted to the U.S. DOJ to obtain Burney's

presence at a deposition. CP 540. On November 28, 2012, the U.S. DOJ

once again responded to the defendant's by letter and stated,

On September 1, 2011, and again on September 24, 2012, this office responded to two subpoenas you previously served on the FBI for testimony and the production of documents in connection with this matter. Both of these letters informed you of the procedure, enacted in the Code of Federal Regulations, for procuring documents and/or testimony from the Department of Justice for use in litigation in which the United States is not a party. Copies of these letters are attached for your reference. Because the current subpoena and Court Order were issued after the date when you would have received each of these letters, I can only assume that you have decided to ignore them."

CP 540. This letter of November 28, 2012 went on to say that absent compliance with federal regulations (as discussed in the previous letters to the defendant) that the DOJ would not allow Agent Burney to comply with the order. CP 540.

On November 29, 2012 Agent Peay submitted to a deposition by defense counsel. CP 546. In that deposition she did not refuse to answer any questions. CP 546. On December 6, 2012 and December 9, 2012, the

State provided the defendant with a total of 28 additional pages of discovery including reports authored by Agent Peay. CP 665-66. On December 27, 2012, the defendant sent an e-mail to the prosecutor requesting a second interview with Agent Peay. CP 666.

On December 21, 2012 the trial court denied the defendant's motion to dismiss the case. CP 597. The court ordered the defendant to submit a scope and relevancy letter summarizing the testimony and materials sought from Agent Burney. CP 597. The court set a review date approximately 3 weeks out to review compliance with the order. CP 598. On January 4, 2013, the defendant submitted a scope and relevancy letter with regards to Agent Burney. CP 606; 666. The U.S. government responded that the letter failed to set forth the relevancy of the requested materials and testimony. 8 RP at 180; CP 607-08.

On January 18, 2013, the defendant filed a renewed motion to dismiss and/or strike based on the U.S. government's dissatisfaction with the scope of and relevancy letter that they sent. CP 600-01. The scope and relevancy letter that the defendant sent to the U.S. government is attached to this motion. CP 607-08. This letter sets forth the scope of defense's anticipated interview of Agent Burney, but does not set forth the relevancy of his anticipated testimony. CP 607-08. Nowhere in the letter does the defendant state why this testimony from Agent Burney is relevant to the

case. CP 607-08. Though it may seem obvious, and it is undisputed the trial court believed the relevancy to be obvious, the federal regulations require a letter which sets that forth in so many words. CP 607-08; 9 RP at 205, 213, 237.

Between January 18, 2013 and March 15, 2013, the defendant did not resubmit a scope and relevancy letter including a better statement of the relevancy of Agent Burney's testimony as requested by the U.S. government. CP 666-67. The defendant continued to characterize the situation as "a complete, abject lack of compliance by the—by the State…" 10 RP at 267-68. By March 1, 2013, the defendant did not obtain an interview with Agent Burney. CP 667; 10 RP at 280-82. On March 1, the trial court granted the defendant's motion to strike portions of the search warrant affidavit attributable to the federal agents. 10 RP at 282.

On March 15, 2013, the trial court entered an order granting the defendant's motion to strike finding that,

[d]ue to the failure of the agents to comply with the Court's directives and the State's obligations to make discovery available to the defense, including but not limited to discovery of issues and information related to any search and seizure under CrR 4.7(c)(1), and finding that the State has been unable to fulfill that requirement, the Court is empowered to fashion a remedy to address the failure to the State to provide the requisite discovery in this matter calculated to encourage the State and its agents to comply with the state rules of discovery and the discovery ordered entered by this court pursuant to CrR 4.7(h)(7) and that the

appropriate remedy in this case is to strike all information provided by, and/or derived from, Agent Burney and Agent Peay from the affidavit filed in support of the application for the search warrant submitted in this case, now therefore,

IT IS SO ORDERED, JUDGED AND DECREED that any and all information provided by or derived from information provided by, Agent Burney or Agent Peay contained in the affidavit for search warrant in this case shall and the same hereby is stricken from the probable cause equation.

CP 667-68. The court made a finding on the record that after striking the portions of the search warrant affidavit attributable to Agents Peay and Burney there no longer existed probable cause, rendering the search warrant invalid. 13 RP at 354-55.

On March 22, 2013, the defendant filed a motion for dismissal with prejudice. CP 669-70. On March 29, 2013, the State filed an amended motion for dismissal without prejudice on the basis that based on the court's ruling that the search warrant was invalid, it could not proceed on the case due to lack of admissible evidence. CP 677. On March 29, 2013, in court, the trial court struck portions of the search warrant affidavit attributable to Agents Peay and Burney. 13 RP at 345-354. After the redactions were made to the search warrant affidavit, the trial court found that probable cause did not exist for issuance of a search warrant. 13 RP at 354-55. The court granted the defendant's motion to dismiss the matter with prejudice. 13 RP at 360; CP 720. On April 15, 2013, the court signed the order redacting the

affidavit for the search warrant, excising any information attributable to

Agents Peay and Burney. CP 718-719. On April 15, 2013, the trial court

entered an order for dismissal with prejudice finding that

...the State has an obligation to make discovery available to the defendant, including but not limited to discovery of requested information relevant and material to search and seizure pursuant to CrR 4.7(c)(1)

That the State in this case was unable to fulfill that requirement primarily as a result of a lack of cooperation by the Federal Government despite the best efforts of the Court to encourage and compel compliance pursuant to CrR 4.7(d);

That the Court is empowered to fashion a meaningful remedy to address the failure to provide the required discovery in this matter calculated to encourage compliance with the state rules of discovery and the discovery orders entered by this Court pursuant to CrR 4.7(r)(7);

CP 720-21. The court found that without the material stricken in the affidavit for the search warrant, probable cause for the search warrant no longer existed. CP 721. The court found that suppression of the evidence obtained by the search warrant was required. CP 721. The court dismissed the case with prejudice nunc pro tunc to March 29, 2013. CP 722.

The trial court specifically found there had been no bad faith on the part of the prosecution in this case. 12 RP at 295. On that subject the trial court stated,

"My perception will be—is at this point that there has not been bad faith on the State's part, that I put—based on my—sitting in this chair, looking out, hearing the argument, I put the inappropriateness—and I would say inappropriate in this—on the feds, and this interinterrelation between the State system and the feds and how that has worked and not worked, as I—as I've made the ruling in this case."

12 RP at 295-96. The court once again addressed this issue by stating, "[t]here's nothing I can sit here and say the Clark County prosecutor's office I can see did something where you think prosecutorial misconduct, mismanagement." 13 RP at 357.

The State timely filed its appeal of the trial court's order redacting the search warrant affidavit and the trial court's order of dismissal with prejudice. CP 723.

#### D. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

The trial court erred in finding the State violated its discovery obligations pursuant to CrR 4.7 when the defendant was unable to secure a pretrial interview with a potential defense witness. The State's discovery obligations are limited to material and information within its possession or control. The witness the defendant was unable to interview, Agent Burney of the FBI, was not within the State's possession and control. The court therefore erred in finding the State violated CrR 4.7 and in applying a remedy pursuant to CrR 4.7(h)(7)(i) as no discovery violation had

occurred, and even if a discovery violation had occurred, the remedy was extreme as applied and tantamount to dismissing the case. The trial court's order

#### I. <u>THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE STATE</u> VIOLATED CrR 4.7

The trial court below found the State violated CrR 4.7(c)(1) when it did not produce FBI Agent Burney for an initial defense interview, and ICE Agent Peay for a second defense interview. CP 667-68. CrR 4.7(c)(1)by its specific wording limits what the State must provide in discovery to "material and information." CrR 4.7(c)(1). Interviews with witnesses are not "material and information" as contemplated under CrR 4.7(c)(1). Further, the failure to provide defense interviews with defense's own witnesses was not a violation of any provision of CrR 4.7 and the trial court's finding that the State violated CrR 4.7 was clearly erroneous.

A trial court's conclusions of law are reviewed de novo. *State v. Armenta*, 134 Wn.2d 1, 9, 948 P.2d 1280 (1997). A trial court's findings of fact are reviewed under the "clearly erroneous" standard. *State v. Evans*, 80 Wn. App. 806, 811, 911 P.2d 1344 (1996) (citing *State v. Allert*, 117 Wn.2d 156, 163, 815 P.2d 752 (1991). "Findings are clearly erroneous 'only if no substantial evidence supports [the trial court's] conclusion.'" *Evans*, 80 Wn. App. at 812 (citing *State v. Grewe*, 117 Wn.2d 211, 218, 813 P.2d 1238 (1991); *State v. Perez*, 69 Wn. App. 133, 137, 847 P.2d 532, *rev. denied*, 122 Wn.2d 1015 (1993)). In this appeal, the State assigns errors to findings of fact and conclusions of law. The State also assigns error to the remedy the trial court granted after finding a CrR 4.7 violation. The trial court's order to exclude evidence or dismiss the case pursuant to CrR 4.7(h)(7) is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *State v Dunivin*, 65 Wn. App. 728, 731, 829 P.2d 799, *rev. denied*, 120 Wn.2d 1016, 844 P.2d 436 (1992).

The State is not required to provide defense with interviews of its witnesses, let alone with interviews of defense witnesses. The discovery rules only require that the State disclose information and materials within its possession and control pursuant to CrR 4.7(a)(1). The trial court below erred in finding that the State violated its discovery obligations when defense counsel was unable to obtain a pretrial interview with a defense witness who was not under the State's control. "The trial court cannot order discovery exceeding the scope of the rules." *State v. Pawlyk*, 115 Wn.2d 457, 483, 800 P.2d 338 (1990). As the State did not violate its discovery obligations, the trial court's order finding the State violated CrR 4.7 and imposing a remedy should be reversed.

Pursuant to discovery rules, the State is only required to disclose the names, addresses, and written and oral statements of witnesses to

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