NO. 44761-4-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Appellant

v.

DARIN RICHARD VANCE, Respondent

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY
CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO. 11-1-00704-9

RESPONDENT'S AMENDED BRIEF

Attorneys For Respondent

Steven W. Thayer, WSBA #7449
Steven W. Thayer, P.S.
112 W. 11th Street, Suite 200
Vancouver, WA 98660
360-694-8290

David T. McDonald, WSBA #18446
David T. McDonald, P.C.
510 SW 3rd Avenue, Suite 400
Portland, OR 97204-2543
(503) 226-0188

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

C. Summary of Argument

By failing to take exception, or object, to the findings and conclusions that are delineated in the State's Assignments of Error 1-6, the state waived the right to raise those allegations of error for the first time on appeal and to have this court review any alleged error. All of the findings that the state failed to preserve are considered verities on appeal.

Even if this court determines that the first six assignments are reviewable, there is a presumption in favor of the trial court's findings. This court need only consider evidence favorable to the prevailing party (Mr. Vance) in reviewing the record and, given those standards, the state has failed to meet its burden of showing that any of the findings are not supported by substantial evidence in the record.

The state failed to preserve the claim that the trial court erred in finding a discovery violation. Even if this court finds the alleged error preserved, the trial court correctly found that the state's witnesses refused to comply with the court's directives and imposed the appropriate sanction

under CrR 4.7. The imposed sanction was a not a manifest abuse of discretion, nor done on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons.

The state failed to preserve its claim that the defense did not show prejudice, failed to preserve any issue regarding the “silver platter” doctrine, and the defense was prejudiced as found by the court.

The trial court carefully reviewed the various available sanctions and crafted the least onerous sanction that it deemed to be effective after attempting to resolve the issue over a five-month period and at ten separate hearings. The dismissal with prejudice was the only reasonable alternative given the state’s witnesses continually refusing to comply with state discovery laws.

D. Argument

1. The State Failed To Take Exception, And/Or Object To The Findings Listed In The State’s Assignments Of Error 1-6 And Therefore, Cannot Now Challenge Those Findings For The First Time On Appeal And Those Findings Are To Be Taken As Verities.

The state claims for the first time on appeal that some of the trial court’s findings and conclusions in the Order Granting Defendant’s motion to strike are erroneous.¹⁷ In reviewing the record below, the trial court’s rulings are presumed valid and the state has the burden in the case to show that those findings are not supported by substantial evidence. *Buck Mountain Owner's Ass'n v. Prestwich*, 174 Wash.App. 702, 713-714,

¹⁷ State’s brief at 1-2.

308 P.3d 644 (2013). However, the state has failed to carry its burden that the trial court's rulings are not supported by substantial evidence.

Specifically:

There is a presumption in favor of the trial court's findings, and the party claiming error has the burden of showing that a finding of fact is not supported by substantial evidence. *Fisher Props., Inc. v. Arden-Mayfair, Inc.*, 115 Wash.2d 364, 369, 798 P.2d 799 (1990). Unchallenged findings of facts are verities on appeal. *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wash.2d 801, 808, 828 P.2d 549 (1992). "The appellant must present argument to the court why specific findings of fact are not supported by the evidence and must cite to the record to support that argument," or they become verities on appeal. *Inland Foundry Co. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 106 Wash.App. 333, 340, 24 P.3d 424 (2001).

Id.

A party is required to make specific objections, or take specific exceptions, to a trial court so the trial court can hear argument of counsel and make specific rulings and, or correct any errors, thereby avoiding unnecessary appeals. *State v. Robinson*, 171 Wash.2d 292, 304-305, 253 P.3d 84 (2011). The *Robinson* court set forth the policy underlying preservation as follows:

The purpose underlying our insistence on issue preservation is to encourage "the efficient use of judicial resources." *State v. Scott*, 110 Wash.2d 682, 685, 757 P.2d 492 (1988). Issue preservation serves this purpose by ensuring that the trial court has the opportunity to correct any errors, thereby avoiding unnecessary appeals. *Id.*; see *McFarland*, 127 Wash.2d at 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (noting that permitting appeal of all unraised constitutional

issues undermines the trial process and results in unnecessary appeals, undesirable retrials, and wasteful use of resources).

State v. Robinson, 171 Wash.2d 292, 304-305, 253 P.3d 84 (2011).

A party's failure to object waives the error. *State v. Stein*, 140 Wash.App. 43, 68-69, 165 P.3d 16 (2007), *review denied*, 163 Wash.2d 1045, 187 P.3d 271 (2008).

DPA St. Clair only objected to three of the findings.¹⁸ The court changed the Order based upon two of those objections. 12 RP 309, ll 5-23. DPA St. Clair's third objection was to the remedy and he specifically read his objection into the record.¹⁹ The court did not change the remedy based upon that objection.²⁰ The court then set a new hearing date in anticipation of the state filing a Motion To Dismiss Without Prejudice and the defense asking that, if dismissed, the case should be dismissed with prejudice.²¹

Findings not excepted to are considered verities on appeal. *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy*, *supra* at 808; *Inland Foundry Co.*, *supra* at 340. Therefore, the findings referenced in Assignments of Error 1-6 should be considered verities; specifically, the following:

¹⁸ 12 RP 306-308.

¹⁹ 12 RP at 308.

²⁰ 12 RP 309, ll 5-23.

²¹ 12 RP 312.

- 1) the defense did not receive a response from either agent or from DPA Probstfeld regarding the their request for interviews made directly to the agents;
- 2) the agents refused to comply with the Notices of Deposition and the subpoenas *duces tecum* served on them by the defense;
- 3) the scope and relevancy letter sent to the United States Attorney's office on behalf of Mr. Vance by the defense was sufficient to comply with the applicable regulations;
- 4) the agents, even after the defense filed the requisite scope and relevancy letter, continually failed to make themselves available for depositions and to provide documents pursuant to attendant subpoenas *duces tecum*, as ordered by the court;
- 5) even when the agent's compliance was sought by the state, by and through DPA St. Clair, the agents failed to comply with the court's directives;
- 6) the state was unable to fulfill [the discovery] requirement, and
- 7) the state had a discovery obligation pursuant to CrR 4.7 to provide the defense with interviews of Special Agent Burney and Special Agent Peay.

2. The State Failed To Preserve Its Assertion That It Was Not Required To Provide The Defense With Interviews Of The Two State's Witnesses And The State Has Failed To Show That The Court's Determination That Having These Witnesses Submit To Pre-trial Interviews And Depositions Was A Manifest Abuse Of Discretion.

The trial court had the authority to impose a sanction for the state's failure to comply with CrR 4.7. The state failed to object to and failed to take exception to the trial court's orders requiring Agent Burney and Agent Peay to submit to depositions. The state acquiesced in the trial court's orders by attempting to contact the USAO to request dates for the appearances of the agents. Therefore, the state has failed to preserve that argument and waived their right to raise it for the first time on appeal.

At the August 8, 2013 hearing, the trial court found that the agents' role in the preliminary investigation was material.²² The state did not object and the court issued the Order.²³ Notices of Deposition were filed and served upon the two state's witnesses without objection.²⁴

At the November 8, 2012 hearing, the trial court again authorized depositions without state objection.²⁵ The court requested the defense to provide the new Notices of Deposition and Subpoenas to the state in advance "to see if they think they have some sort of objection"²⁶ The Order presented stated:

that the defense is entitled to interview Agent Julie Peay and Agent Alford Burney in order to complete discovery and prepare for trial in the above – entitled matter, and further that the court had

²² 2 RP 15-17 and 19-20.

²³ CP 106

²⁴ CP 108-113

²⁵ 3 RP 53

²⁶ 3 RP 53

already authorized depositions of the above witnesses, and further that the above witnesses failed to respond after being served notices of deposition and subpoenas *duces tecum* requiring them to appear for that purpose on September 28, 2012.

The defense submitted the order, the state did not object, and the trial court entered the Order.²⁷

After the court determined that the defense should submit a “scope and relevancy” letter to the federal government, the defense sent the “scope and relevancy” letter. The trial court found the letter to be sufficient. 9 RP 237. The state did not challenge that finding below. 9 RP 234-259.

At the February 6, 2013 hearing, DPA St. Clair requested that the court withhold any ruling on the new defense motion to dismiss because he wanted an opportunity to talk to the federal authorities and “make this (defense opportunity to depose state’s witnesses) happen”.²⁸ At the February 6, 2013 hearing, DPA St. Clair conceded that the proper remedy was excising the information from the warrant rather than dismissal.²⁹

²⁷ CP 538

²⁸ 9 RP 234 II 18-20.

²⁹ “And then as to the dismissal, I don't think that's the proper remedy. I think if Your Honor were either today or at a later date if you agreed to withhold your ruling, I think excising or I think preventing their testimony or excising statements that don't have to do with the warrant or whatever part they've had in the investigation, I think that would be a more proper remedy. I don't think dismissal of the entire, you know, action is proper given all of the other evidence.” 9 RP 23.

The state is required to comply with state discovery laws, and the failure to comply can result in exclusion of the evidence or dismissal of the charges. *State v. Boyd*, 160 Wash 2d 424, 158 P3d 54 (2007); *State v. Grenning*, 169 Wash 2d 47, 234 P3d 169 (2010); *State v. Norris*, 157 Wash App 50, 236 P3d 225 (2010). The holdings of these cases highlight the prosecutor’s obligations under CrR 4.7 and set forth the constitutional underpinnings of the discovery rules, including a defendant’s right to effective assistance of counsel and a fair trial. *Boyd, supra* at 434-435; *Grenning, supra* at 55; *Norris, supra* at 70 (“CrR 4.7(a) obliges the prosecutor to provide copies of the evidence as a necessary consequence of the right to effective representation and a fair trial”); *See Pawlyk, supra* at 471-472.

In Washington “the long settled policy” is “to construe the rules of criminal discovery liberally in order to serve the purposes underlying CrR 4.7, which are to ‘expedite trials, minimize surprise, afford opportunity for effective cross-examination, and meet the requirements of due process.’” *Norris, supra* at 78-79 quoting *State v. Dunivin*, 65 Wash App 728, 733, 829, P2d 799 (1992)(other citations omitted).

In *Boyd*, the Washington Supreme Court rejected the claim the state was not obligated to turn a mirror image of a hard drive that was alleged to contain child pornography based upon a claim that the

disclosure would violate federal law. *Boyd*, supra at 437-438. The *Boyd* court reaffirmed that, “The discovery rules “are designed to enhance the search for truth” and their application by the trial court should “insure a fair trial to all concerned, neither according to one party an unfair advantage nor placing the other at a disadvantage.”” *Boyd*, supra at 433 citing *State v. Boehme*, 71 Wash.2d 621, 632-33, 430 P.2d 527 (1967) (emphasis supplied).

The state should not have the advantage of using of all the evidence derived from a joint state and federal investigation without having any obligation to provide the defense with all relevant discovery from the agents who generated the information, as this handicaps a defendant’s constitutional right to challenge the evidence, and gives the state an unfair and impermissible advantage. *See State v. Burri*, 87 Wn.2d 175, 550 P.2d 507 (1976).

Allowing the state such an advantage erodes the constitutional underpinnings, which are to insure the effective assistance of counsel and compliance with due process. *Boyd*, supra at 434-435. There is a long recognition by courts that “access to evidence, and in some circumstances, expert witnesses, are crucial elements of due process and the right to a fair trial” and that the “Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel advances the Fifth Amendment's right to a fair trial. That right to

effective assistance includes a “reasonable investigation” by defense counsel.” *Id.* See *State v. Burri, supra*, (compliance with CrR 4.7 insures that the defendant can mount appropriate constitutional challenges to the state’s case and provide effective representation in keeping with the foundational requirements of the Sixth Amendment and the right Due Process). The protections afforded the defendant extend to witnesses and to evidence relevant to issues related to the search and seizure of evidence and the manner in which the state acquired its evidence. CrR 4.7(c).

Therefore, to insure the effective representation of an accused person, and to guarantee that person due process, there must be full and fair discovery. In Washington, that includes the ability to interview material and relevant witnesses and, if such interviews are refused, to have the court order those individuals to submit to Depositions and Subpoenas *duces tecum*. *State v. Burri, supra*; CrR 4.6; CrR 4.7.

In addition, the courts have recognized the trial court is the gatekeeper and puts scope of discovery squarely “within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed absent manifest abuse of that discretion”. *State v. Pawlyk*, 115 Wash. 2d 457, 470-471, 800 P.2d 338 (1990).³⁰ Specifically, the *Pawlyk* court recognized that CrR 4.7 grants the trial courts the right to liberally construe the rules. *Id.* at 471-472.

³⁰ The defense notes that the state’s brief quotes from the *dissent* in *Pawlyk*. State’s brief at 14.

Specifically, the liberal scope and purpose underlying CrR 4.7 is “to provide adequate information for informed pleas, expedite trials, minimize surprise, afford opportunity for effective cross-examination, and meet the requirements of due process.” *Id.* Moreover, CrR 1.2 directs that the Superior Court Criminal Rules are to be “construed to secure simplicity in procedure, fairness in administration, effective justice, and the elimination of unjustifiable expense and delay.” *Id.*

The *Pawlyk* Court held that notes of a defense witness who the defense *did not even intend to call at trial* were discoverable to the state under the rules. *Id.* at 473 (emphasis supplied).

The state’s brief totally misconstrues the proceedings below by referring to the issue as one involving the two state’s witnesses refusing to be “interviewed”. The state refused to facilitate interviews, the witnesses refused requests for interviews and then, on three occasions, the court authorized depositions due to the failure of the witnesses to make themselves available for interviews, *and all without objection from the state.*

Certainly, the defense has the right to interview witnesses in a criminal case. *State v. Burri*, 87 Wash.2d 175, 550 P.2d 507 (1976). The right to interview witnesses is embedded in the right to compulsory process, which "includes the right to interview a witness in advance of

trial". *Id.* at 181. In *Burri*, the court held that a defendant is denied his right to counsel where his right to make a full investigation of the facts and law applicable to the case is denied. *Id.* at 180.

The state relies on *State v. Mankin*, 158 Wash.App. 111, 241 P.3d 421 (2010) to justify the claim that Agent Peay and Agent Burney did not refuse to be interviewed. The state's reliance is misplaced. In *Mankin*, the state's witnesses agreed to submit to interviews, just not tape recorded interviews. *Id.* at 115

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